1987

Winkel Distributing v. Elizabeth Dewsnap, dba Valley Twin Cinema and Citi Cinema : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is pursuant to 78-4-11 Utah Code Annotated and Rules 3 and 4, Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals.

II

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from a judgment for Plaintiff dated 11-2-87 by the Circuit Court without a jury.

Plaintiff, a confectionery supplier sued Defendant Elizabeth Dewsnap, purchaser and new owner of lease on theater, on open account for confectioneries, candy, popcorn, etc., all or part of which was sold to, and billed only to, predecessor owner of theater, Modern Cinema, Inc., a chain theater corporation, not joined in the action.

III

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Whether purchaser of theater became liable for confectioneries purchased by, and delivered to, predecessor owner of theater -

- a. For confectioneries delivered to and charged only to predecessor before Defendant was ever on the scene;
- b. For confectioneries delivered to and charged only to predecessor after Defendant purchased theater but before she operated same.
 - (1) Before Plaintiff learned of Elizabeth Dewsnap's involvement.
 - (2) After Plaintiff learned of and telephoned Defendant Elizabeth Dewsnap.

II. Whether Defendant can be charged -

- a. Without agreement to stand good for debt or default of another;
- b. On Bulk Sales Act theory never claimed in pleadings or otherwise and Bulk Sales Act not applicable in instant situation*;
- c. On alter-ego theory (never plead and appears for the first time in Findings of Fact);

*Bulk sales act is not applicable except where principle business is sale of merchandise from stock. 78-6-103(3). Restaurants, Hotels, Bakeries, Pool halls, Shoe repair establishments, Theaters have been excluded from Bulk Sales application.

STATUTES AND LEGAL PRINCIPALS INVOLVED

Statute of Frauds -

25-5-4. Certain agreements void unless written and subscribed. In the following cases every agreement shall be void unless such agreement, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party to be charged therewith:

(1) Every agreement that by its terms is not to be performed within one year from the making thereof.

(2) Every promise to answer for the debt, default or miscarriage of another.

Alter Ego Theory -

ALTER EGO. A Latin phrase which literally means a second I; a second self; specifically, a confidential friend; a bosom friend. It has been contrasted with "ego."

It is stated in C.J.S. Agency § 7 that where the principle of alter ego is invoked, the actual doer of the act is not an agent; he is an automation, a tool actuated by the will of the principal.

The term "alter ego" is applied to a doctrine of corporate law, and is to the effect that if the fiction of corporate entity is urged to an intent not within its reason or purpose, it may be disregarded, as discussed in C.J.S. Corporations § 6.

3 Am. Jur., Agency -

§ 274. Basis and rationale of general rule.

Although the courts are agreed upon the general rule which charges the principal with notice to or knowledge of his agent, they differ somewhat as to the reason for the rule or as to the theory upon which it is based. Some courts ascribe as the reason for the rule the theory of the legal identity of the principal with the agent - in other words, the agent, acting within the scope of his authority, is, as to the matters embraced therein, for the time being the principal himself or the alter ego of the principal.

Statutes and Legal Principles Involved (continued)

§ 284 - Where agent is sole representative in transaction.

A qualification of the rule that the knowledge of an agent engaged in an independent fraudulent act on his own account is not the knowledge of the principal has been made where the agent, although engaged in perpetrating such an act on his own account, is the sole representative of the principal. In such case, if the principal asserts or stands on the transaction, either affirmatively or defensively, or seeks to retain the benefits of the transaction, he is charged with the agent's knowledge. In such circumstances, the agent is said to be the alter ego of his principal, since he is merely the agency through whom the principal himself acted; and this "sole actor" or "alter ego" principle has been characterized as an exception to an exception - that is, it is an exception to the "independent fraudulent act" exception to the general rule that the agent's knowledge will be imputed to the principal - and it brings the governing principle back, full circle, to the imputation of knowledge to the principal.

§ 293. Generally; agent assuming personal responsibility.

Aside from the liabilities and responsibilities which an agent may incur by virtue of the intrinsic manner in which he executes a contract, certain liabilities may arise against an agent on a contract entered into by him depending upon the agent's authority to enter into the contract, the reliance of the third person upon the credit of the principal or agent, and the legal existence or residence of the principal.

It is always possible for an agent to pledge his individual responsibility and bind himself by engaging expressly to perform the principal's obligation, and under such circumstances, he will be personally liable even though he was known to be an agent and did not intend to bind himself. Thus, while an agent is not ordinarily liable on express or implied warranties on the part of the principal,

Statutes and Legal Principles Involved (continued)

he may, if he sees fit, for a good consideration, make a personal contract of warranty which will be binding and enforceable even though the principal has also made a similar warranty. Likewise, an agent may pledge his own credit for payment by an express undertaking or by a course of dealings which demonstrates an intention to do so. However, where a known agent contracts an account for his principal, a subsequent promise of payment by such agent is void for want of consideration.

§ 294. Liability on authorized contracts, generally.

§ 295. Where principal fictitious, nonexistent, or without legal status.

§ 296. Where principal is incompetent or under legal disability.

§ 298. Liability on unauthorized contracts.

§ 299. - Nature and theories of liability.

V

SYNOPSIS OF THE CASE

Plaintiff, confectionery supplier, sued Defendant, purchaser and new owner of theater lease, and got judgment for \$5,174.89 -

1. \$4,469.27 was for sales to predecessor, Modern Cinema, Inc., delivered to and billed to, and being paid on by predecessor, before Defendant was ever on the scene;
2. \$551.95 was for sales delivered to and billed only to predecessor and delivered after change of ownership, but before new owner operated theater and while predecessor still operated same;
3. Modern Cinema, Inc. was an account of Plaintiff of long standing.

Plaintiff's Complaint states:

"This debt arose during the year 1985;" however the invoices show otherwise and that 90% of it arose before 9-29-84 when defendant Elizabeth Dewsnap first became involved in any manner.

In brief Defendant is charged for predecessor's bills -

1. As to all but \$4,469.27
 - before 9-29-84 when Defendant first became involved;
 - without a written agreement to pay;
 - without consideration;
 - without Bulk Sales claim or status;
 - without estoppel type basis or claim;
 - without billing of any kind.

Synopsis of Case (continued)

2. As to the \$551.95, after 9-29-84 -
 - before the Defendant commenced operation July 1, 1985;
 - on purchases delivered to and billed to the predecessor;
 - admittedly while Defendant new owner intervened to the extent of becoming acquainted with old manager and seeing that he was paid in order to retain him, and intercepted (with predecessor's consent) theater receipts and transmitted to Modern Cinema, Inc., the predecessor.
3. Modern Cinema, Inc. was not unknown, nonexistent, etc. but a chain outfit with many theaters and an account of Plaintiff's with personnel known to Plaintiff.

VI

Calendar of Events

1-2-83 to 5-7-83	Purchases were by and billings to, Modern Cinema, Inc. owner of many theaters. Plaintiff also sold to Elizabeth dba Citi Cinema, for Beaver Theater which never had anything to do with Modern Cinema, Inc. <u>Affidavit of E. Dewsnap, Ex. M</u>
9-29-84	Defendant took Assignment of Lease. <u>Ex. 2</u> <u>Affidavit of E. Dewsnap, Ex. E</u>
9-29-84 to 6-30-85	Modern Cinema, Inc. continued to operate theaters;
To Nov. 8, 1984	Receipts were deposited to Modern Cinema, Inc. account.
After Nov. 8, 1984	Defendant collected, by agreement with Modern, receipts, deposited to separate account, and remitted balance to Modern Cinema, Inc. <u>E. Dewsnap Affidavit, Ex. D</u>
1-22-85	Defendant paid power bill. <u>E. Dewsnap Affidavit, Ex. A</u>
2-10-85	Defendant paid telephone bill. <u>E. Dewsnap Affidavit, Ex. F</u>
5-5-85	Defendant paid manager. <u>E. Dewsnap Affidavit, Ex. C</u>
5-23-85	Assignment of Lease, dated 9-29-84 was recorded. <u>E. Dewsnap Affidavit, Ex. E</u>
6-17-85	Notice of operation to film sellers of her commencement of operation. <u>Letter Ex. 6</u>
6-25-85	First film payment made by defendant. <u>E. Dewsnap Affidavit, Ex. E</u>
6-30-85	Elizabeth Dewsnap commenced operation of Twin Cinema.
7-1-85	First lease payment by defendant. <u>E. Dewsnap Affidavit, Ex. H</u>

VII

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background Information

Elizabeth Dewsnap was married to one Stan Dewsnap who was a theater operator since childhood when family operated theater at Delta, Utah. Elizabeth Dewsnap was divorced from Stan Dewsnap in 1961 and he shortly thereafter remarried. He was for many years an employee and manager of Modern Cinema, Inc., a chain outfit with theaters in Colorado, Utah, Nevada, Idaho and the midwest, and including the so-called Twin Cinema, at Richfield, Utah also two other theaters in Richfield, Utah, the Huish and Lyric.

Defendant Elizabeth Dewsnap is a full-time teacher at Carbon College, owns and operates a theater at Beaver and two theaters at Price; and until resale of same, the Twin Cinema at Richfield, only the latter having been purchased from Modern Cinema, Inc.

Defendant operates as Elizabeth Dewsnap dba Citi Cinema and without connections to Modern Cinema, Inc. except purchase from them of the Twin Cinema.

Defendant's theater at Beaver has never been involved with Modern Cinema, Inc., yet the account confused with and sued upon with, the account on Beaver theater and only at trial conceded by Plaintiff to have been paid.

The two theater companies, Elizabeth Dewsnap dba Citi Cinema and Modern Cinema, Inc. in Utah, buy film, confectioneries, supplies, etc. from the same suppliers.

With the Dewsnap name there has been confusion as to the companies and apparently a proclivity to bill Elizabeth Dewsnap on Modern Cinema, Inc. bills because of her apparent better solvency.

On 9-29-84, Elizabeth Dewsnap negotiated for and took assignment of Lease, Exhibit E (Exhibit 2) from Modern Cinema, Inc. of the Valley Twin Theater in Richfield. Before that time, she had nothing to do with the theater. She did not assume operation of that theater until 6-21-85 because of school employment and other theaters, and work on doctorate degree; and because of agreement with Modern Cinema, Inc. whereby Modern elected to continue operation of the Valley Twin in Richfield until disposition by Modern of the Huish Theater in Richfield which Modern also owned and operated. Nevertheless to become acquainted with the Valley Twin, Elizabeth Dewsnap periodically stopped in en route between Price and Beaver. She became acquainted with the manager who knew of the assignment of Lease, but apparently not of the arrangement to defer operation. Elizabeth Dewsnap saw to it that the manager was paid to ensure that she would have a manager to run the theater when she took over, but he was paid from Modern Cinema receipts and Modern Cinema account except May 1985 payment, Exhibit C of E. Dewsnap Affidavit.

Purchases of confectioneries for the theater in Beaver, Utah were delinquent but all paid before trial which the Plaintiff denied until a few minutes before trial.

B. Account Summary

Before 9-29-84 when Elizabeth Dewsnap became involved Modern Cinema, Inc. had been delivered and was billed for, the \$5174.89 (Ex. 1), except for additions of \$705.62 comprising deliveries after 9-29-84, \$643.35, and interest of \$62.27, balance \$4,469.27.

The 3-01-86 bill, (Ex. 1), to Modern not to Defendant, added invoices after 9-29-84 as follows:

#19196 dated 10-19-84	\$ 38.20	
#19691 dated 12-12-84	\$183.90	
#17048 dated 12-18-84	\$151.15	
#49524 dated 1-04-85	\$119.00	(date suspect)
#16374 dated	\$ 59.70	
# 8370 dated	\$ <u>91.40</u>	(invoice never produced, R53 L18)
	\$643.35	
Interest	\$ <u>62.27</u>	
		\$705.62

For the total revised 3-1-86 bill of \$5,174.89.

Invoice No. 8370 dated 5-7-85 for \$91.40 was never produced, R53 L18, and should be deducted from the \$643.35 leaving \$551.95 due Plaintiff for anything delivered after 9-29-84.

On July 1985 Elizabeth Dewsnap took over operation of the Twin Cinema and would be liable for any purchases thereafter, but there were none except for three as follows: 7-15-85 Invoice No. 13495, \$49.60; 7-2-85 Invoice No. 14048, \$45.45; 7-29-85 Invoice No. 14665, \$61.20, a total of \$156.25 check for which together with costs was paid counsel at pre-trial.

According to the Findings of Fact the court relied on two principal factors in charging Defendant for old debts -

Findings of Fact No. 14 Plaintiff's manager contacted Valley Twin manager who told Plaintiff's manager to "contact the Defendant" (Elizabeth Dewsnap).

and

Findings of Fact No. 15 Plaintiff's manager contacted Defendant regarding payment and Elizabeth Dewsnap supposedly "asked for time to pay."

Referring to the statement Exhibit 1 (Exhibit M of E. Dewsnap Affidavit) the top figure, \$4,904.79 is not an invoice charge but a balance, R54 L17, R31 L11 and 12; with business dating to 1983, R54 L13; and was variously paid on by Modern Cinema, Inc., R57 L13: but delinquent as of September 1984, R22 L23 and no charges after January 1985, R26 L24.

Winkel never made contact with Dewsnap until two months prior to January 1985, R27 L10 (his first contact, R27 L8 with two or three contacts altogether, R26 L2; all by telephone conversation, R23 L15, E. Dewsnap testified as to one call only, R96 L19.)

Elizabeth Dewsnap thought she was being dunned for Beaver deliveries knowing that Richfield deliveries were being paid by cash by the Modern manager Whitaker and not being dunned on old Modern bill on which she had never been billed.

The \$4,469.27 is thus established as old debt, prior to any involvement of Defendant Elizabeth Dewsnap and billing paid on by Modern, R54 L13, 21; R55 L8; R56 L1, 10.

Neither the \$4,469.27 nor the add-ons \$705.62 were ever "billed" to Defendant Elizabeth Dewsnap, only sued upon.

Asked what the claim was between 9-29-84 to 5-7-85, counsel answered \$1,417.82, R33 L12, and Plaintiff reiterated same R34 L15. However that crucial total was reduced to 6 invoices R52 L5-7, Invoices -

40524 dated 1-4-85 for \$119.00;

16374 dated 1-9-85 for \$59.70;

8370 dated 5-7-85 for \$91.40;

19196 dated 10-19-84 for \$38.20;

19691 dated 12-12-84 for \$183.90; and

10748 dated 12-18-84 for \$151.15;

Total \$643.35.

However No. 8370, contrary to the statement, was not produced, time was given for production R53 L18, and the same never produced hence that total from time of lease until all credit was cut off, becomes \$551.95.

The date of course as well as authenticity would have been crucial especially in view of the date change on No. 40524 for \$119.00 dated January 4, 1984 (before 9-29-84 Lease Assignment) and changed to 1985 and with number consistent with 1984.

Deducting the questionable Invoice No. 40452 would leave \$432.95 of credit purchases during the period from Defendant's purchase (though without operation) to last credit invoice, No. 16374 dated 1-9-85 for \$59.70.

Billing on the starting balance was to Modern Cinema, R19 L23 and in fact on all bills, to Modern Cinema, Inc., Ex 1.

Beaver bills were billed to Citi Cinema. E.Dewsnup Affidavit, Ex. K

Defendant does not claim lack of acquaintance with Modern Cinema, Inc., its officers, its place of business, or address.

C. Plaintiff's Basis for Trying to Charge Defendant.

Plaintiff's stated reason for seeking to charge Defendant was answered R55 L3 -

The reason that I am assuming that she owes the bills is that the manager of the theater told me that she did, the man doing the purchasing;

that he didn't bother to sue Modern Cinema because - R55 L24 -

I didn't learn that there was any difference until this action was commenced and any difference that anybody had sold out, or anybody had bought anything from anybody. We didn't know that. We were still getting checks and all of a sudden the checks stopped coming and . . .

Where did the checks come from . . . they did come from Delta (office of Modern Cinema, Inc.) Answer: Early, yes.

Plaintiff was asked by the court R58 L7 -

Besides your conversations with Mr. Whitaker and your conversations with Mrs. Dewsnap over the phone, what else is there, if anything, that makes you believe that Mrs. Dewsnap owes Winkel Distributing money . . . Answer: Well, I thought that was just enough. I didn't seek other sources . . . in your mind, was there any other reason? Answer (L19): No, there wasn't. I assumed the manager of her theaters knew where his pay checks were coming from, where he sent the bills to and . . .

The last clause is strange - Plaintiff did the billing not Modern's manager Whitaker; and bills were directed to Modern, not the manager.

The conversations relied on were in substance R28 L7 -

Question: . . . what did she say? Answer: That she was, was behind in her bills, and she would try to get me some money, nothing specific but she would be trying to make payments and she promised to do the best she could to get me a payment in the next few days and, on that assumption, then I let it go and nothing came in the mail.

. . . Well, it was a similar conversation as the first one in that she, it's the same excuse as I get from everybody in this situation, that she didn't have any money right now but would try to get me some as soon as she could and that type of conversation.

Counsel for Plaintiff R47 L23 sought to enlarge the testimony by "testifying" -

. . . she assured us she was the one who would pay it and we continued to contact her and she continued to assure us . . .

With that encouragement, on redirect examination as to specifics of conversations Plaintiff stated R59 L25 -

Yes, she acknowledged the fact that she got a statement . . . Question: Did you discuss amounts of money? Answer: Yes, each month she would have gotten a statement . . . The Court: That's not the question. In your telephone conversation with her, did you discuss amounts of money? Answer: Yes. Answer: The specific in voices, no, we didn't discuss specific invoices but it was the bottom line, this \$4,000.00 or whatever it was owing that we were talking about. We didn't happen to detail each specific invoice.

D. Analysis

As to the witness Whitaker, manager, manager for Modern Cinema, Inc., not for Defendant Elizabeth Dewsnap, he testified that Plaintiff approached him in the fall of 1984 and was told -

In the fall of '84 I suggested he probably contact Mrs. Dewsnap and ask her the questions there as far as the liability. [R65 110].

Whitaker did not talk with Elizabeth Dewsnap in 1984, he did talk with Stan Dewsnap, R65 L16 -

I honestly can't remember contacting her. I can remember before that time talking to Stan Dewsnap about his account. [Stan Dewsnap was at that time manager or some such position, of Modern Cinema, Inc.]

Asked if he assured Plaintiff that Mrs. Dewsnap would "take care of the account" he answered R65 L24 -

Question: No. Assuring him that the owner, Mrs. Dewsnap, would take care of the account?
Answer: Again I can't remember as far as taking care of the account. I can remember referring him to her to see about the account but as far as taking care of it, I am having problems with that.

Nowhere did Whitaker, Modern Cinema's manager, say what Plaintiff said he said.

Whitaker testified inconclusively that in the fall of '84 he received salary payments from Mrs. Dewsnap. R68, but documentation would indicate only Citi Cinema checks to Whitaker were May 1985. E. Dewsnap Affidavit, Ex. C

Whitaker knew of the sale of the lease to Elizabeth Dewsnap; he was managing the two theaters together, the Huish Theater and the Twin, for Modern Cinema, Inc. Salary of the Huish and the Twin was lumped together including the two checks paid by Citi Cinema in May 1985. E. Dewsnap Affidavit, Ex. C

Other help was paid by Modern Cinema, Inc., R76 L16.

Film for both theaters (the main theater expense) were booked through Modern Cinema, Inc. through Tom Phillibin, R74 L20 -

Question: Through Delta, [Delta, Colorado is office of Modern Cinema, Inc.], through Modern Cinema? Answer: He was the booker for Modern Cinema, yes. Question: Well, were those - were the shows booked through Modern Cinema for both theatres, the Huish and the Twin, after the Twin came into being? Answer: Yes.

Defendant never made a film payment until 6-29-85.

E. Dewsnap Affidavit, Ex. I

Whitaker makes it clear R73 L9, R75 L16 that he bought concessions for both the Twin and the Huish out of gross.

He had nothing to do with utilities, R75 L20. First utility payment by Citi Cinema was January 1985.

E. Dewsnap Affidavit, Ex. F

On repairs on equipment, he thinks between September 1984 and June 1985 Modern Cinema flew in parts and a technician, R77 L7.

Sometime in the fall of '84 Whitaker was informed by Elizabeth Dewsnap that she had purchased the Twin Cinema; after that he received pay checks from Cinema and deposited monies to a Twin Cinema account starting he believes October - November '84, R83 L17.

Defendant Elizabeth Dewsnap testified that June 17, 1985 she sent out notice to the film companies that she would be operating the Twin Cinema, Exhibit 6, that she and Modern Cinema, Inc. had agreed that her operation of

the Twin Cinema would be delayed because of Modern still operating the Huish and best interests in getting films and continuity of the films, R91 L20, and that Modern Cinema had asked her to pick up payroll because there were -

. . . some of their checks that weren't going through for the payroll . . . [R92 L2];

and that she kept manager and employees paid [none paid until May 1985] in order to "keep the operation going until I could take over", R94 L15; also that if there was a shut down the shopping center (where the Twin theater was located) would "get another lessee for sure," R94 L21.

Defendant states there was only one call from Plaintiff, R96 L19.

She stated she never agreed to pay Modern's bills, R97 L9; never agreed with Modern that she would pay their account either before or after she bought the Lease, R98 L23.

Defendant never commenced buying films until she took over operations July 1985, never booked any until June 1985, R99 L17.

The film rental alone takes half of the gross and all that was paid by Modern, R100 L9; some \$50,000.00 per year for films alone at Richfield Twin Cinema, R102 L13.

Defendant Dewsnap never gave any instructions to Brad as to operations or control, R109 L8. She never told Modern's manager Whitaker that she had purchased the Twin Cinema but assumed that Modern had told him and of course he knew when, by agreement between Modern and Defendant Elizabeth Dewsnap, funds were deposited to a local account out of which costs could be paid, R112 L20. Defendant stated that she thought the verbal agreement to defer operation was also written but she could not find such writing. We do know from the evidence that she neither bought nor booked films until takeover June 1985 when she gave notice by Exhibit 6.

Stanley Dewsnap, manager of Modern Cinema, Inc., indicates payroll for manager was reported to Modern Cinema's district office though some paid by Citi Cinema, to ensure payment and keep the theaters open; that such arrangement was by Modern Cinema's choice; that some deposits were made to Citi Cinema, that concessions were purchased for cash from both the Huish and Twin combined, but that Modern Cinema continued to pay films, Lease, repairs, overhead, utilities, (except for one telephone and power payment, January and February 1985, E. Dewsnap Affidavit, Ex. G), and that it, Modern Cinema, Inc., received the gross less sums as indicated paid to manager, help and confectioneries. Stanley Dewsnap Affidavit.

E. Alter Ego Theory

Though never mentioned in pleadings or trial, the findings conclude Elizabeth Dewsnap to have been the alter ego of Modern Cinema, Inc., a corporation, doing business in, and with theaters in various states.

Elizabeth Dewsnap was never a stockholder, officer, or employee of Modern Cinema.

She was, prior to divorce 26 years ago, wife of Stan Dewsnap, he now remarried, and who, though never an officer or stockholder of Modern Cinema was manager thereof.

Elizabeth Dewsnap became involved with Modern Cinema September 29, 1984 by contract to lease the Twin Cinema in Richfield, from Modern Cinema, Inc.

She agreed to take over operation later, after Modern, who still operated the Huish Theater in Richfield, disposed of the same, and after she, Elizabeth Dewsnap was out of school for summer and had ceased to work on doctorate at Carbon College so as to have more time.

But in going to and from Beaver theater and Price theaters which she did own, and home in Cedar, en route through Richfield she was in and out of the Twin Theater, in contemplation of operating, and met the manager and determined to, and did employ him later and in the mean time made sure he got paid.

Some time after the 9-29-84 lease assignment, Modern Cinema, Inc. to Elizabeth Dewsnap, the manager learned of the lease.

Some time after the 9-29-84 lease assignment, theater receipts were deposited to an account Elizabeth Dewsnap controlled and from same, the manager's salary was intermittently paid. Other employees were paid by Modern's manager by cash (except May 1985, E. Dewsnap Affidavit.) Balances were remitted to Modern Cinema, Inc. at its Colorado office.

Modern Cinema saw to repairs including flying repairman and parts in from Colorado, paid films, booked films, and received proceeds except as noted.

The manager was unaware of details of lease or of agreement for Elizabeth Dewsnap to take over operation until only at a later date.

Plaintiff Winkel was not aware of Elizabeth Dewsnap at all.

He merely learned of her later when he inquired of the manager regarding payment for concessions and was told to call Elizabeth Dewsnap and did and merely "referred" R65 L22 to "see about" the account R66 L3, not told she would "take care of" the account R65 L18.

They talked of delinquency and Elizabeth Dewsnap committed to get a payment in thinking Winkel was referring to the Beaver account.

At the time she personally owed Winkel on her Beaver theater.

At the time she personally owed Winkel no other debts.

At the time Winkel still knew nothing of her lease of, nor intention to operate, the Twin Cinema, other than what had come to him by conversations with the manager.

VIII

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. Regarding old debt, that for deliveries to Modern Cinema, Inc. before 9-29-84, date of Assignment of Lease to Defendant Elizabeth Dewsnap, the Defendant -

- Never assumed the debt;
- Never promised to pay the debt;
- Had no reason to;
- Received no consideration for so doing;
- Never led anyone to believe she would pay same; and

B. The Statute of Frauds would protect her from the proposition that she some how became liable for the debt of another, and this to protect her from fraud.

C. Failure to Allege or Prove Alter Ego Theory.

The record speaks for itself the complete absence of any reference to alter ego theory either in pleadings, pre trial, or trial.

D. Regarding deliveries to Modern Cinema between 9-29-84 and the telephone conversation between Defendant and Plaintiff.

Only Modern Cinema, Inc. could be liable since Defendant again never -

Promised to pay or held herself out as anyone authorized or obligated to pay.

She was never stockholder, employee, officer, or interest holder in Modern Cinema, Inc. and had no agreement with Modern Cinema, Inc., or with Plaintiff Winkel, or anyone else, to pay Plaintiff Winkel for deliveries to Modern Cinema at its Twin Theater.

Winkel never even knew of Defendant until Modern's manager Whitaker told Plaintiff to call Mrs. Dewsnap for information.

He asked about money owed. She owed on her Beaver account.

He never billed her. He revised his bill to Modern, dated it 1986, Exhibit 1, and either sent same to her or filed complaint.

Plaintiff cannot even claim confusion as to whom he had sold to, and was being paid by.

It is notable that Plaintiff Winkel billed by separate vouchers; therefore his statement does not reflect payments made along the way from Modern though he concedes he was being paid by Modern, R56 L5, 10.

Winkel had a long standing account with Modern, R54 L11, and separate account with Citi Cinema on Beaver theater.

E. Deliveries after telephone conversation.

Plaintiff offered to pay as settlement apparently conceding that at time of such deliveries she had made an appearance, intercepted theater monies (with consent of Modern) and saw to it that management was paid, and this to preserve continuity of management until July 1985 when she was scheduled to commence operating.

Consistent with her position is the ~~un~~refuted evidence that Defendant -

Notified film people in June 1985;

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