1987

Winkel Distributing v. Elizabeth Dewsnap, dba Valley Twin Cinema and Citit Cinema : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The judgment of the trial Court should be affirmed on the grounds that there is sufficient evidence in support of the findings of fact and that the Appellant has failed to meet the threshold burden marshalling all evidence in support of the findings and demonstrating that they are clearly erroneous.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO MEET THE THRESHOLD REQUIREMENT OF MARSHALLING ALL EVIDENCE IN FAVOR OF THE FINDINGS AND SHOWING THEY ARE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS

Rule 52a of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure sets the standard for review of civil judgments entered by the trial Court without a jury. This rule requires a showing by the individual attacking the findings of fact, that the same

are clearly erroneous in light of the evidence. Subsequent case law has placed the burden on the Appellant to marshal all evidence in favor of the findings and then demonstrate that the same are clearly erroneous in light of this evidence. Harker v. Condominiums Forrest Glen, Inc., 740 P.2d 1361 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) Fitzgerald v. Critchfield, 744 P.2d 301 (Utah Ct. App. 1987)

In the instant case Appellant has merely reiterated the facts as he viewed them at the trial in an effort to support his position. Findings of fact one through twelve do not appear to be in dispute. As to findings thirteen through sixteen, the Appellant has failed to marshall any of the supporting evidence nor has she attempted to discredit or illustrate that it is clearly erroneous. Instead, Appellant has simply reiterated evidence in support of his proposed position.

The failure of Appellant to meet this threshold is neither elective nor optional and the trial Court's findings and judgment should be affirmed. Fitzgerald v. Critchfield, supra.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED
BY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE, AND ARE NOT CLEARLY
ERRONEOUS AND THE JUDGMENT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

As previously noted, findings of fact one through twelve of the Court have never been disputed and are supported by the evidence.

Finding of fact number thirteen is supported by the testimony of the manager, Brad Whittaker (T. 72, 73). Mrs. Dewsnap also acknowledged she had paid the manager but claimed it was merely to preserve the business until she could take over (T. 91, 92).

As to finding of fact number fourteen, Plaintiff's manager contacted the manager of Valley Twin Cinemas in Richfield, Utah, demanding payment for the goods supplied. He was told to contact the Defendant. This finding is supported not only by Mr. Winkel's testimony (T. 26) but also the testimony of Brad Whittaker, the manager (T. 65).

As to finding number fifteen, Winkel contacted Mrs. Dewsnap demanding payment for the goods supplied. Mrs. Dewsnap did not dispute the claim but asked for time to pay it since the business was short of money. Mr. Winkel testified unequivocally that he had discussed the Richfield account with Mrs. Dewsnap on two or three occasions. That on each occasion she had acknowledged the obligation, admitted that she was behind on her bills and promised she would make a payment within the next few days (T. 28, 29). When questioned

regarding these conversations, Mrs. Dewsnap stated she did not recall any telephone conversations but if there were any, there was only one (T. 96, 104). Later in her testimony Appellant, Elizabeth Dewsnap, testified she never agreed to pay Modern's bills and attempted to rationalize the conversation described by Winkel as merely a misunderstanding and that she thought he was talking about the Beaver theatre when demanding payment. As appropriately pointed out by the Court (T. 117), at the time of the alleged conversations, the Beaver account was at most \$64.00, while the account called on by Winkel was for over \$4,000.00. The Court clearly questioned the credibility of Mrs. Dewsnap and found the testimony of the Plaintiff Winkel to be more believable under the circumstances. Finding number fifteen is not "clearly erroneous".

Finding number sixteen of the trial Court is that Defendant is the alter ego of Modern Cinemas Inc. The alter ego concept under these circumstances should be analyzed under the principles of agency.

Elizabeth Dewsnap's relationship to the Twin Theatres could hardly be classified as anything less than an implied agency or agency by estoppel. As noted in 3 Am Jur 2d Section 18:

"The existence of an implied agency, for example, may be inferred from prior habits

or from a course of dealings of a similar nature between the parties, especially where the agent has repeatedly been permitted to perform similar acts in the past".

Under Section 19 of the same authority:

"an agency by estoppel may be created insofar as third persons are concerned .. that is, it may arise from acts and occurrences which lead third persons to believe that it has been created. Agency by estoppel may be apparent only and exist because of the estoppel of the principal or agent to deny the same after the third party has relied on such appearance, so that such third party would be prejudiced if the facts were shown to be otherwise."

If we review the conduct of Appellant Elizabeth Dewsnap in relation to the Valley Twin Cinemas it becomes patently obvious that she had more than a passing interest. For a period of over five years she visited the theatre frequently, either picking up papers or delivering posters (T. 108, 109). If her theatre in Beaver ran out of supplies, she would contact the manager at the Valley Twin Cinemas and have them prepare popcorn, etc. (T. 109); in 1984 she began depositing proceeds from the Valley Twin Cinemas in her account and then chose to pay certain obligations such as payroll, utilities and telephone payments while at the same time choosing not to pay suppliers such as Winkel (T. 29, 30, 94, and affidavit of Elizabeth Dewsnap). Upon contacting the manager of the Valley Twin Cinemas in the fall of 1984,

Mr. Winkel was directed to Elizabeth Dewsnap as the party responsible for obligations by the manager of the theatres (T.26). Upon contacting Mrs. Dewsnap on two or three occasions, Mr. Winkel testified and the Court so found, that she acknowledged the liability, requested more time for payment and promised to pay (R. 39, 40). The only logical conclusion that can be drawn from these facts is that Elizabeth Dewsnap was acting in at least an agency capacity for the corporation as to Winkel.

If we review the evidence in a light most favorable to Appellant, and determine that Elizabeth Dewsnap was, in fact, only an agent of Modern Cinema, Inc., then we must analyze what evidence would support her liability on the account and thus make her the "alter ego" of the principal Modern Cinema, Inc.

As stated in 3 Am Jur 2d, Section 316:

Thus, the agent of an undisclosed principal may be held liable on the contract as the real obligor because he contracted in that capacity, and an undisclosed principal may be held liable because as the recipient of the deal, he should also assume its burdens.

In Section 317 of the same authority it states:

It has generally been held that the liability of an undisclosed principal and his agent is an alternative liability rather than a joint liability or a joint

and several liability, and that the third party, after he becomes aware of the agency and identity of the principal, is put to an election to hold either the agent or the principal liable, but not both.

In the instant case Winkel testified that as far as he knew Elizabeth Dewsnap was the owner and responsible party for the Valley Twin Cinemas (T. 55). That his basis was that the manager had told him she was the responsible party and that he had called Mrs. Dewsnap and she had acknowledged it was her responsibility. It should also be noted that none of the documentation submitted by Appellant, including deposit slips for Modern Cinema, have any designation of a corporation. It is undisputed in the evidence that Mrs. Dewsnap was aware in the fall of 1984 that Modern Cinema, Inc. was having trouble paying their bills (T. 91, 92) but despite this knowledge when contacted by Mr. Winkel she did not refer him to any corporation, but rather acknowledged her own liability and promised payment (T. 28, 29). The result of Mrs. Dewsnap representation was that Winkel withheld collection efforts and, in fact, granted more credit to the Valley Twin Cinemas (T. 21, 28). This extension of additional consideration is sufficient to bind the agent for the entire obligation even if a portion is considered as preexisting debt. 3 Am Jur 2d, Agency, Section 308

Under this set of facts, the Court could have relied on undisclosed agency, estoppel or new consideration to find Mrs. Dewsnap liable as the alter ego of Modern Cinema, Inc.

CONCLUSIONS

The judgment of the trial Court should be affirmed.